
Meeting Minutes 

FINAL 

Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
To: Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup Date: September 11, 2025 

From: Erik Lesko, ATS Facilitator, PacifiCorp 

Cc: Larissa Rohrbach and Lincoln Baxter, ATS Administrative Support, Anchor QEA 

Re: Final Minutes of the July 24, 2025, Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup Meeting 

The Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup (ATS) meeting was held virtually on July 24, 2025, on 
Microsoft Teams, from 9:30 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. Attendees are listed in Section VII of these meeting 
minutes.  

Action Item Summary 
I. Welcome (Lesko)

A. Review Agenda (Lesko; 10 min)

Erik Lesko (PacifiCorp) called the meeting to order and explained the plan for the meeting. He 
explained that ATS has been busy with the Bull Trout-Coho Salmon interactions discussion for the 
past 6 months, and until this meeting, that has been the focus of discussion. Lesko stated that 
today’s plan was to discuss the ATS Work Plan because these topics have not been discussed in 
some time, so it would benefit the group to plan for the next 6-to 12 months. The list of ATS Work 
Plan Items is as follows. 



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 2 

 

FINAL 

Lesko reported an update on the Coho Salmon-Bull Trout Interactions Summary Report to the 
Aquatic Coordination Committee (ACC), components of which were uploaded to SharePoint and 
shared with the group. An Executive Summary for this report is still forthcoming prior to submittal to 
the ATS for review. Lesko stated that the goal was to have this report developed by the end of July, 
but it may need to be submitted in early August due to time constraints.  

II. ATS Work Plan – Prioritization of Tasks 
Erik Lesko opened the ATS Work Plan in the meeting. He explained that the list contains about 20 
items and suggested that the group work to assess their status and prioritize them. He stated that he 
had added onto this list some of the comments received on PacifiCorp’s Annual Report of Hatchery 
and Supplementation (H&S) activities. These comments specifically recommended that the objective 
be included on the ATS workplan. 

Lesko explained that this list has not been updated recently, so some items may be completed. The 
first item Lesko discussed was the Hatchery Transition Plan. He said that this is a topic that is being 
addressed at the ACC level and in special sessions. PacifiCorp has been putting together a 
memorandum of their next steps following a recent meeting. Lesko said that he does not think there 
is anything for ATS to do on this topic at this time, but he is keeping it on the list because it is a 
long-term, high-priority item that may come back to the group. 

Lesko moved on to the second item, formalizing the data collection management and reporting 
strategy. He said this topic focuses on finding a place for information from various sources to live 
and be shared. Lesko said that there had been previous discussions of establishing a SharePoint site, 
but a final plan had not been developed yet. He said that the Utilities have an annual report to write 
and having the information needed for that development would be to everyone’s benefit. Kale 
Bentley (Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife [WDFW]) said that Lesko covered the topic well 
and suggested that part one of that task, identifying all the information being gathered on the topic, 
has been completed and reiterated that the second part, determining a vehicle for sharing of this 
information which is still to be done. He discussed potential additions by outside groups, for 
example a new genetic baseline data from Cramer Fish Sciences.  

Lesko moved on to the next item on the list: smolt-to-adult-return estimates for hatchery-released 
smolts. He explained that spring Chinook Salmon are the priority, which is called for in the Rearing 
and Release Evaluation (RRE) led by Larissa Rohrbach (Anchor QEA). Lesko said that there have not 
been smolt-to-adult-return data shared yet, to estimate survival of various hatchery returns over the 
different treatment groups of the RRE. He said that this task should be marked as a priority but will 
be returned to later. 



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 3 

 

FINAL 

Lesko moved on to the fourth topic—submit Fish Transport Plan to ATS—clarifying that this is 
referring to a different plan than the Coho Salmon transport plan submitted the week prior. 
Chris Karchesky (PacifiCorp) explained that the Coho Salmon transport plan submitted earlier will be 
a subcomponent in the plan being referenced in this forum, which will be a larger-scale, holistic view 
of facilities, equipment, and release sites for all transport species.  

Lesko moved on to the fifth topic concerning the development of an ACC Decision Document to 
clarify the extent and scope of the Licensees monitoring and evaluation obligations as determined by 
the Lewis River Settlement Agreement and Federal Energy Regulatory Committee (FERC) licenses. 
Bentley suggested that this is an outstanding item creating a barrier to monitoring obligations. He 
said that ironing out details concerning monitoring efforts in the Lower Lewis River tributaries should 
be considered an outstanding item that may be included later. Lesko agreed that this task should be 
left in the list and revisited in the near future.  

Lesko moved on to the Chinook Salmon Transition Plan and said that he has not been privy to the 
discussion on this topic. Bentley called into question prioritizing between Chinook Salmon and 
steelhead but said agrees that options could be discussed. He said that the majority of spring 
Chinook Salmon returning are of hatchery origin, which does not leave the group with many options, 
but numbers of natural-origin fish returns were trending upwards. Lesko agreed that this topic 
should be revisited in the future. 

Lesko moved on to the next item: “Review juvenile in-river trapping results from Eagle Cliff, and offer 
recommendations for 2026.” He said that nothing has happened on this topic. Bentley said that he 
provided many comments in the Annual Report on this topic that he had repeated for the third 
consecutive year, but that he did not think it was worth getting into today beyond that. He 
suggested that the lower river traps are not providing useful information due to a delay in timing 
with the reporting cycle. Lesko said this topic will remain on the list. 

Lesko passed it to Sean Roon (WDFW) for the next topic, to consider multivariate analysis of 
components affecting chronic stress and bacterial kidney disease (BKD). Roon said that hatchery data 
are scattered out on different spreadsheets or on paper that will all be compiled. He said that once 
spawning seasons and summer activity dies down, he will have more time. Roon said he could plan 
to have this dataset compiled by end of year, tentatively.  

Lesko moved on to the next task, a complete strategy review of Coho Salmon abundance estimates 
for fall monitoring. Bentley stated that he interpreted this task to call for a wholesale evaluation of 
Coho Salmon estimates in the Lower Lewis River, mirroring the evaluation previously done on 
steelhead abundance estimates. He said that he led the development of that effort, and the effort for 
Coho Salmon is most of the way done, barring a couple of unspecified roadblocks. He continued to 



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 4 

 

FINAL 

say that he has shared a brief synopsis of the prior evaluation and that has been passed on to the 
contractor that will be conducting the estimates for Coho Salmon. He spoke of the idea of reusing 
the memorandum issued for the steelhead evaluation and adapting it for Coho Salmon for submittal 
to ATS for comment. He remarked that the fall season is roughly 2 months out and suggested 
convening a side meeting within the next month and a half concerning this matter and that his team 
could present a short summary at the next ATS meeting. 

Lesko brought up the next two items—feeding rations and delivery methods and avian predation—
and said these have not been investigated despite being included in the H&S Plan from 2020. He 
stated that he cannot remember the Utilities’ initial response for why these topics had not been 
addressed and did not know what level of effort would be required.  

Josua Holowatz (WDFW) brought up the topic of post-release predation of hatchery-origin smolts on 
natural-origin juveniles in the Lower Lewis River and tributaries as something to consider as part of 
the discussion about predation issues.  

Bentley stated that he does not know where the call for a review of feeding rations and delivery 
methods came from. He said WDFW has an internal review of these practices that could be used as a 
reference for any work put toward this.  

Lesko discussed oxygen levels falling as a result of feeding activity, which has been observed in past 
dissolved oxygen monitoring, and wondered whether there was a simple change in feeding methods 
to mitigate that. He said he does not have answers but wants hatchery folks to contribute thoughts 
to minimize disease and predation to maximize fish returns. Kevin Young (WDFW) suggested that a 
conversation could yield a baseline for hatchery operations and feeding rations and potentially adapt 
feeding strategies to cope with lower dissolved oxygen levels the summer. 

Bentley suggested that it may be beneficial to focus and determine which programs the group wants 
to assess. He said that there are lots of excess Coho Salmon returning, and improvements to their 
hatchery rearing regime are not needed. He continued to say his team had spent a lot of time on 
spring Chinook Salmon practices due to their low survival and return rate and alluded to a 
forthcoming presentation by Sean Roon next month.  

Lesko stated his agreement and said that the issue of excess Coho Salmon could be addressed in this 
review of hatchery practices. He concluded that further discussion is needed and flagged the topics 
to be revisited in the future.  

Holowatz posed a question about an upcoming development by the Utilities with potential for 
impacts to the Lower Lewis River thermal regime. He said that a planned mixing tower would change 
the thermograph of the lower river and would have impacts to fish management programs. He asked 



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 5 

 

FINAL 

when the topic will be brought to the forefront with the managing agencies. Lesko said he is on the 
periphery of that discussion and that the team involved is at a data-gathering stage with Washington 
State Department of Ecology (Ecology), which has been going on for a couple years. He said they are 
aware of the temperature compliance issue for the Lewis River but do not yet have a definitive plan. 
He also said that he does not know when it will be brought up to ATS, but he can follow up with 
colleagues that are more involved. Holowatz stated that more information is better, and his agency 
would like the opportunity to weigh in on the planning process. Lesko said that there is a process in 
place to involve WDFW as well as public comment, but development is not yet ready to be 
presented. Mark Ferraiolo (PacifiCorp), who is directly involved with this work, confirmed that the 
project is in a data-gathering stage and assured that the plan will include WDFW involvement well 
before any decisions are made. Holowatz offered his thanks. 

Bentley asked Ferraiolo about the planning process for a facility like this and wondered whether a 
template exists that could be previewed to assess potential effects. He brought up a previous plan to 
have a side discussion on the topic with PacifiCorp staff. Ferraiolo clarified that if a structure is built it 
would use a novel process that has only been done once in the State of Washington, so there does 
not exist an exact framework to reference. He offered reassurance that agencies would be updated 
this fall. Bentley requested that more information on the data-gathering process be provided to the 
agencies in the interim because they are responsible for managing the species that will be affected 
by the project. Ferraiolo suggested that WDFW and Ecology develop a framework to share this kind 
of information directly. He said that the consultant gathering the data developed a Lower Lewis River 
Water Quality Model to predict changes in population dynamics, which uses Chinook Salmon 
spawning data to provide a temporal and spatial distribution example of current conditions. Once 
data are more robust, WDFW will be updated at either ACC or ATS this fall. Bentley said that it seems 
disadvantageous to develop an analysis and presentation without involving the agency that has 
historically collected data in the area. Ferraiolo reassured the group that WDFW would be provided 
updates regarding the model and other project-related data this coming fall. Lesko stated he had 
just spoken with a representative close to the project who told him an update is forthcoming in the 
ACC in a couple weeks.  

Lesko moved on to the next topic—ATS review of hatchery practices—and stated this has never 
occurred. The task is marked to be considered every 5 years as needed for the H&S Plan, which is 
due in 2027. Bentley said this is an objective in the H&S Plan, which is an obligation of PacifiCorp 
with ATS being expected to review and help facilitate objectives. He suggested it should be done by 
March 2027, concurrent with updating the H&S Plan. It was agreed that this topic is a subcomponent 
of Line 11 and will be revisited. 



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 6 

 

FINAL 

Lesko moved on to the Stoplight table, which he explained is a table of color-coded objectives in the 
H&S Plan provided as an appendix to the Annual Report. He explained that the status of each 
objective is subject to debate, so a review to find consensus on the status of each objective would be 
helpful. Bentley suggested we break this up into three components, component one being the 
table’s accessibility. He suggested it be included at the front, akin to an abstract or summary that 
could be cross-walked to different sections throughout the report. The second component would be 
to evaluate the colors assigned to each objective as mentioned, and the third would be to assess 
objectives marked red or yellow and prioritize. Lesko agreed that not all of the objectives marked red 
on this list are included on the ATS Work Plan and should be cross referenced. 

Lesko moved on to fish length of hatchery-origin adults returning to traps and hatcheries. He spoke 
about a data gap with fish lengths and ages of hatchery-origin adults returning to the traps and 
hatcheries. PacifiCorp’s practice is to collect lengths on natural-origin fish but not hatchery-origin 
fish, thinking that length data on hatchery-origin returns be collected by the hatcheries, but it 
appears that this is not occurring. He also spoke of data gaps caused by delays in reporting about 
steelhead scales, where multiple years’ worth of data have gone unreported. Young replied that the 
hatcheries do take sex and length of their fish, and fish management staff take all the necessary data 
during spring Chinook Salmon season. He suggested that the data in question likely exist but just 
need to be wrangled. Lesko agreed that a platform for sharing this should be developed.  

Lesko moved on to the next topic, comments received on reports concerning Coho Salmon to 
separate reported metrics into early, late, and U.S. v. Oregon production groups in the tables, explain 
brood targets, add details to Annual Operating Plan (AOP), monitor regularly, and ensure detailed 
reporting with feedback. He spoke of inconsistency in reporting due to a discrepancy with language 
in the H&S Plan. He said it would be helpful to know the brood target to separate those comments 
between hatchery production under the Lewis River FERC license and brood for U.S. v. Oregon. 
Holowatz replied that there is a time period where fish are collected for U.S. v. Oregon that does offer 
a brood number because the fish being referenced come from multiple sources at varying 
proportions. Young concurred that there is a sliding scale with respect to how many fish are required 
of Lewis River Hatchery to satisfy U.S. v. Oregon, and they have historically been able to meet all 
targets at a Washougal Hatchery, with Lewis River Hatchery being used as a backup. He offered to 
share broodstock numbers for the AOP. Lesko agreed and thought that would satisfy this task. 

Lesko moved on to the next topic—evaluation of bias for Steelhead and Coho Salmon spawner and 
juvenile abundance in the Lower Lewis River. Bentley said there is likely too much to discuss on this 
topic at this meeting. He remarked that his crews counted more Coho Salmon carcasses than even 
the top end of what was estimated from a prior mark/recapture event, which is evidence that 
approach is not providing useful information.  



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 7 

 

FINAL 

Moving on, spawner abundance does not account for pre-spawn mortalities and is not reported by 
origin. Lesko suggested this one does not warrant discussion at this meeting. Bentley suggested the 
point be lumped into the greater Coho Salmon spawner abundance evaluation. Lesko agreed. 

Lesko moved to the last point, which was a question about 3x1 spawning crosses for late-winter 
steelhead being used when pairwise mating is the recommendation in the AOP. Young stated there 
is no 3x1 cross occurring in that program, and it does not occur in the Conservation Program, but 
3x3 matrix spawning does occur. Lesko said that he had been incorrectly reporting information on 
those spawning practices and would update the reporting method and tables for this metric in 2025.  

Lesko asked the group whether anything needed to be added to the list. Bentley brought up an 
internal list that his agency keeps and offered a quick crosswalk of items missing from the ATS Work 
Plan. These items included summer steelhead transport, implementation of Coho Salmon Transition 
Plan, Bull Trout versus Coho Salmon ongoing issues, upper basin kelt collection at Swift, evaluation 
of kelt reconditioning, lower river Coho Salmon releases and plants, and development of an 
integrated population model (IPM). Lesko requested Bentley send him this list so that he could 
update the ATS Work Plan with these items.  

Michael Hudson (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service) spoke up to say that the ATS Work Plan is really 
focused on salmon and steelhead and requested that his agency and the Lewis River Bull Trout 
Recovery Team be included in considerations of altering biomass of potential predators on Bull Trout 
before going to ACC with those recommendations. Lesko agreed. 

Lesko summarized by saying he would work with this table to update it with new recommendations 
and ratings for objectives after the meeting and would have it available for sharing early the 
following week. He said that the group could dive back into this table next month to prioritize items 
not completed and set the stage for at least the next 12 months.  

Bentley spoke to the comments calling into question why no action has been taken toward achieving 
certain objectives. He said he understands the various constraints that prevent his work from getting 
done, but if there is an issue, then it should be addressed. He said you can change three things: 
resources, priority, and scope. When the scope is detailed, then it can be determined what resources 
need to be allocated to achieve the objective, but for more nebulous tasks, a decision template 
should be used to move past them. Lesko agreed, noting that resources are often the limitation. He 
offered thanks to attendees for participating and stated that this work is very beneficial to the 
Utilities. 



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 8 

 

FINAL 

III. Recurring Updates 

A. Coho Salmon-Bull Trout Interactions Summary Report to the ACC 

Erik Lesko explained that this is a deliverable to the ACC that is still in development. He pulled up the 
list of resources being attached to this summary report on SharePoint and explained that the list of 
notes is not yet included but will be. As mentioned, an Executive Summary will be developed by 
Larissa Rohrbach. 

Lesko asked the group whether anything is missing that should be included in this report. 
Mike Hudson asked why the Bull Trout information synthesis was marked to not be included. 
Lincoln Baxter (Anchor QEA) replied that his understanding was that it was determined to be a large 
enough item that it could be provided as a stand-alone item but he would get confirmation. Hudson 
replied that there is a lot of background information that the ACC is interested in.  

Lesko said that the due date on this summary report is soon, to be highlighted at the next ACC 
meeting in August and provided to the ACC by September. He said that there is a scheduling 
conundrum and that Rohrbach may need to send this out to the ATS prior to the ATS meeting, and 
schedule the ATS’s review to meet that target Hudson suggested the group field discussion about 
the Executive Summary prior to submittal to ACC. 

B. Hatchery Practices 

Kevin Young provided updates for Jesse Cody and Mike Chamberlain, who were not in attendance. 
The Speelyai Hatchery spring Chinook Salmon adult collection goal of 1,540 has been achieved, 
despite about 60 mortalities to date. Ceratonova shasta have been detected in some of the 
mortalities.  

Young reported that the February release group of spring Chinook Salmon juveniles at Speelyai 
Hatchery are on medicated feed to treat for elevated BKD. Juvenile kokanee salmon are still 
recovering from an infectious hematopoietic necrosis (IHN) infection but are improving with minimal 
additional losses to those reported in past months. The hatchery is expecting a final yield of around 
half of the program goal, around 45,000 to 46,000 individuals.  

He continued by saying that Merwin Hatchery is collecting summer steelhead broodstock and is 
about halfway done, with mass marking starting first week of August. Lewis River Hatchery recently 
completed mass marking and tagging of its Coho Salmon program, and those fish are now in their 
final rearing tank. He reported BKD issues in the spring Chinook Salmon stocks at Lewis River 
Hatchery, with about 1 to 300 fish lost per day.  



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 9 

 

FINAL 

Young reminded the group that Mike Chamberlain’s last working day is July 31, and his replacement, 
John Allen, is familiar with fish management in the Lewis River Basin. He will attend ATS meetings 
and be added to correspondence channels. 

C. Fish Health 

Sean Roon reported on pre-spawn mortality, saying that a subset of mortalities from the spring 
Chinook Salmon at Speelyai contained C. Shasta myxospores. He said that Speelyai Hatchery had 
finished its Aquamyacin treatment recently. He reported that he had been on site recently to assess 
Chinook Salmon and kokanee salmon and did not detect any symptoms of IHN, so that infection 
seems to have run its course despite knocking out a large proportion of the population.  

He went on to discuss the spring Chinook Salmon February release group at Speelyai Hatchery, 
which was administered an Aquamyacin treatment that did not have much of an effect. Stock is still 
actively dying from BKD.  

Roon said that it has been a bad year for BKD among juvenile spring Chinook Salmon in the basin 
after a couple of good years. After tweaks to increase water turnover rates, no BKD was detected 
until the typical presentation stage in yearlings. Then this year was a sharp contrast with BKD 
presenting in every spring Chinook Salmon release group. He spoke of internal discussions looking 
at what could be done for the upcoming brood year and said that one proposal was to return to full 
ELISA screenings for yearlings. He explained that they have been screening individuals with highs 
and segregating them to be released earlier. He then explained that he needs to work to determine 
whether funding is even available to make this option feasible. Lesko asked for clarification on the 
segregation and early release practice. Young explained that if those fish are released with BKD and 
achieve return, then they must have the right antigens to persist through the infection.  

Lesko then asked about mitigation production kokanee salmon remaining after their devastating IHN 
infection. Young replied that he can provide that number but his group expects a release of 45% to 
50% of their goal, so 45,000 to 46,000 fish released, with the goal of 93,000.  

IV. Administrative Items 
The next meeting of ATS will take place August 28, 2025. 

Erik Lesko said that a Coho Salmon IPM presentation is scheduled for next meeting. The group 
should also plan to review the ATS Work Plan objectives. The Bull Trout-Coho Salmon Summary 
Report and Executive Summary are in development.  



Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup 
Meeting Date: July 23, 2025 

Document Date: September 11, 2025 
Page 10 

 

FINAL 

Jeremiah Doyle (PacifiCorp) stated that Mount Hood Environmental is planning to give a 
presentation of steelhead proportion of hatchery-origin spawners and abundance at the next ATS 
meeting. 

Lesko thanks everyone for their participation and called the meeting to a close. 

V. List of Attendees 
Name Affiliation 

Lincoln Baxter Anchor QEA 

Amanda Farrar Cowlitz PUD 

Amelia Johnson LCFRB 

Jeremiah Doyle PacifiCorp 

Mark Ferraiolo PacifiCorp 

Chris Karchesky PacifiCorp 

Erik Lesko PacifiCorp 

Robert Al-Chokhachy USFWS 

Jeffrey Garnett USFWS 

Mike Hudson USFWS 

Timothy Whitesel USFWS 

Kale Bentley WDFW 

Mike Chamberlain WDFW 

Josua Holowatz  WDFW 

Anja Huff WDFW 

Christopher Kopack WDFW 

Sean Roon WDFW 

Kevin Young WDFW 

 

 


	Final Minutes of the July 24, 2025, Lewis River Aquatic Technical Subgroup Meeting
	Action Item Summary
	I. Welcome (Lesko)
	A. Review Agenda (Lesko; 10 min)

	II. ATS Work Plan – Prioritization of Tasks
	III. Recurring Updates
	A. Coho Salmon-Bull Trout Interactions Summary Report to the ACC
	B. Hatchery Practices
	C. Fish Health

	IV. Administrative Items
	V. List of Attendees


